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INTRODUCTION

The most valuabl e patents are ones that must be used
in order to be in compliance with a standard.*

These words, authored by Rambus's primary JEDEC representative, Richard Crisp,
capture the essence of this case, and the essence of Rambus as a company. Mr. Crisp, based on
four years of participation in JEDEC’ s open standards process, was well acquainted with
JEDEC’srules and its purposes. Y et he understood that Rambus' s corporate objectives were
fundamentally at odds with JEDEC’ s objectives.? Geoffrey Tate, the only CEO in Rambus's
history, whom Rambus elected not to call asawitness at trial, knew thisaswell. His objective,
set out in the Rambus business plan he drafted in June 1992, just months after Rambus began
attending JEDEC meetings, was to gain control of the dominant DRAM industry standards.
Indeed, Tate and others at Rambus fully appreciated that the company’ s intellectua property —
itsonly real asset —would become valuable only if it was embedded in an industry standard.
This caseis not about an innovative company that emerged as a monopolist through the quality
of itsinventions. Rather, it isabout a company whose inventions have come to possess immense
market value solely because the company subverted an open standards process through deception
and bad faith.

As Your Honor has ruled, this case comes down to three basic questions:

. Did the Respondent, Rambus Inc., engage “in a pattern of deceptive, exclusionary
conduct by subverting an open standards process’ ?

. Did Rambus utilize “such conduct to capture a monopoly in technology-related
markets’?

1 CX0903 at 2 (emphasis added).

2 In the same paragraph of the previously cited document, Mr. Crisp wrote: “The job of JEDEC
isto create standards which steer clear of patents which must be used to be in compliance with
the standard whenever possible” CX0903 at 2 (emphasis added).




. Does Rambus' s challenged conduct violate “well-established principles of
antitrust law”?

See Order Denying Respondent’s Motion for Summary Decision at 12 (Apr. 14, 2003). The
voluminous evidentiary record — the product of a 54-day administrative hearing involving 44 live
witnesses and roughly 1770 admitted exhibits — compels the same answer for each question: a
resounding yes. As explained in this post-hearing brief, through its challenged conduct Rambus
did indeed violate well-established principles of antitrust law, subjecting itself to liability under
Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45.

Section | provides an overview of how the evidence devel oped through the administrative
hearing substantiates every material allegation contained in the Commission’s Complaint.

Section |1 discusses the elements of the Commission’s claims, the overarching theory of
liability, the relevant burdens of proof, and certain inferences and presumptions that should be
taken into account in assessing the sufficiency of the proof.

Section |11 analyzes the central legal and factual issues bearing upon the subject of
liability and explains why Rambus should be held liable under each of the three counts outlined
in the Commission’s Complaint.

Finally, Section IV addresses the subject of relief and demonstrates why Rambus's
conduct warrants a broad, forward-looking remedy that will effectively restore competitive
conditions to the markets at issue and bar Rambus from further exploiting itsill-gotten
monopoly power to the detriment of competition and consumers.

Although Complaint Counsel has endeavored in this post-hearing brief to provide a

comprehensive discussion of the record facts as they bear on issues of liability and remedy, the



brief should be read in conjunction with Complaint Counsel’ s Proposed Findings of Fact

(“CCFF"), which distills the factual record in considerably greater detail .2

THE RECORD SUBSTANTIATESALL MATERIAL ALLEGATIONSOF THE
COMMISSION'SCOMPLAINT

The Complaint in this matter sets forth detailed factual alegations that, in the unanimous
view of the Commission, warranted this enforcement action against Rambus, and the assertion of
three separate claims of liability — monopolization (Count 1), attempted monopolization (Count
I1), and unfair methods of competition (Count I11). The legal and economic underpinnings of the
Commission’s Complaint are sound. Commission precedents, antitrust case law, well-accepted
principles of economic theory (on which Rambus's own experts, among others, have written),
and this Court’s pretrial rulings all validate the theory of liability upon which thiscaseis
predicated.* The Complaint’s allegations have now been proven by overwhelming evidence, and
that evidence conclusively establishes Rambus's liability under each count in the Commission’s
Complaint.

Broadly speaking, the record in this case can be summarized by reference to several

categories of evidence, which closely track the Complaint’s allegations:

¥ More generally, Complaint Counsel incorporates herein CCFF 1-3.

* See, eg., Mark A. Lemley, Intellectual Property Rights and Sandards Setting Organizations,
90 Cal. L. Rev. 1889, 1930 (2002) (“It is certainly feasible for an IP owner to gain a market
advantage by concealing its I P rights from an SSO long enough for the SSO to adopt a standard.
And where adoption of the standard is likely to determine the way the market devel ops, one
wielding the power to control that standard may ultimately control the market. Thisisan
antitrust risk that needs to be addressed.”); id. at 1930 n.163 (“[C]ompanies that subvert
cooperative standard setting processes to create their own proprietary, closed systems should
face severe penalties.”), quoting Dennis W. Carlton and Robert H. Gertner, Intellectual Property,
Antitrust and Strategic Behavior (Nat'| Bureau of Economic Research, Working Paper No. 8976,
2002), at 3.



The DRAM Industry (Complaint 11 7-13). Asafoundation for understanding the

conduct at issue here, the relevant markets, and the manner in which Rambus's conduct has
injured competition and consumers in such markets, Complaint Counsel has developed a
thorough factual record relating to the nature of dynamic random access memory (“DRAM”),
the processes through which it is produced, the economic factors affecting supply and demand,
the technologies used in designing DRAMSs, and the evolutionary development of the DRAM

industry and DRAM industry standards, throughout the relevant time period (roughly 1990 to the TjT* -0.0143s






proprietary standards for synchronous DRAMs, which embodied afar more conventional,
“wide-bus’ architecture. See CCFF 700-66, 800-1357.

Rambus's Schemeto Develop Patents Covering SDRAMs and “ Future

SDRAMS’ (Complaint 19 39-55). Therecord likewise compellingly demonstrates that

Rambus, starting in the early 1990’s, while amember of JEDEC, set out to amend and broaden®
its pending patent applications for the specific purpose of covering technological features that
were adopted or being considered for adoption in JEDEC’ s competing SDRAM standards — all
the while deliberately keeping these activities secret from JEDEC. See CCFF 500-658, 800-
1357. Explicit documentary proof and corroborative witness testimony reveal the precise nature
of Rambus's scheme, and the manner in which it was implemented. Such evidence clearly
demonstrates, among other things, that Rambus knew or believed various technological features
contained in JEDEC’'s SDRAM standards, or considered for inclusion in future SDRAM
standards, either were covered by pending Rambus patent applications or could be covered

through amendments to such applications, without exceeding the scope of the inventions

® Theterm “broaden” is used here to refer to the fact that Rambus' sinitial patent claims were
drafted with the RDRAM architecture in mind. Hence, Rambus's effort to obtain patent
coverage over SDRAMs not only involved amending patent claims to specify, with particularity,
certain technological features used in SDRAMS, but also generalizing such claimsto extend to
more conventional DRAM architectures. Thiswas done, in part, by removing limitations in
Rambus's earlier patent claims that reflected peculiarities, or novelties, associated with the
RDRAM design. See CCFF 700-766, 800-1357.



The Four “Rambus’ Technologies (Complaint 11 56-69). The following four

technol ogies were among the DRAM-related technol ogies considered or adopted by JEDEC
while Rambus was a member of the organization that Rambus, during the same time period,
specifically set out to cover through amended patent claims: (1) programmable CAS latency; (2)
programmable burst length; (3) on-chip PLL/DLL; and (4) dual-edge clocking (collectively
referred to hereinafter as “the *Rambus’ technologies’). Record evidence shows that JEDEC
incorporated the first two of these technologiesinto itsinitial SDRAM standards, finalized in
October 1993, more than two and a half years before Rambus withdrew from JEDEC,; that
JEDEC included all four technologiesin JEDEC' s subsequently adopted DDR SDRAM
standards; and that the work on what eventually became known as“DDR SDRAM” commenced
(if not earlier) in late 1993, very shortly after JEDEC’ s initiadl SDRAM standards were
completed. See CCFF 500-658. The evidence also shows that express claimsin various
Rambus patent applications filed with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (“PTO”) while
Rambus was a member of JEDEC were arguably broad enough to cover use of these “Rambus”
technologiesin devices built in compliance with JEDEC’'s SDRAM and DDR SDRAM
standards. See CCFF 500-658, 1122-1237. Finaly, it is undisputed that Rambus, starting in or
around early 2000, began to enforce various patents, all deriving from the *898 application,
against JEDEC-compliant SDRAM and DDR SDRAM devices, specifically relating to the use of
the aforementioned technologies in such devices. See CCFF 1950-1974.

Rambus's Failureto Make Reguir ed Patent-Related Disclosuresto JEDEC

(Complaint 11 70, 79-80). Despite clear evidence that Rambus, while a member of the

organization, knew or believed that JEDEC' s standards would likely infringe upon its own

patented or patent-pending technologies, and despite ongoing efforts by Rambus and its lawyers



to obtain ever-broader coverage over SDRAMs and “ Future SDRAMS’ (which cameto be
known as DDR SDRAMS) in the 1992-1996 time frame and beyond, Rambus never disclosed to
JEDEC that it possessed patents or applications directly related to JEDEC swork. See CCFF
800-1357. Indeed, the evidence shows that Rambus deliberately concealed such information
from JEDEC participants throughout the time it participated in JEDEC (ending in June 1996),
and that it continued to conceal such information for many years thereafter, even asit developed
increasingly confident views that SDRAMs and DDR SDRAMSs did (or would) infringe Rambus
patents. See CCFF 1238-1357, 1676-1700. Rambus's actions in this regard undermined and
subverted JEDEC’ s most basic purposes and principles and directly violated well-established
JEDEC poalicies, rules, and procedures.

Rambus's Limited and Misleading Disclosures (Complaint Y 71-88). Therecord

evidence shows that Rambus did make limited patented-related disclosuresto JEDEC. See
CCFF 968-76, 1109-14. Importantly, however, these disclosures did not relate to Rambus's
efforts to cover SDRAMs and “ Future SDRAMS’ or to Rambus's belief that it had succeeded in
doing so. See CCFF 917-18, 926. Specifically, in September 1993 Rambus disclosed to JEDEC
the issuance of its first RDRAM-related patent — U.S. Patent No. 5,423,703 (hereinafter, “the
703 patent”). When it withdrew from JEDEC in June 1996, Rambus also disclosed, with no
explanation, the numbers of each of its then-issued patents, with one important exception: Itis
undisputed that Rambus omitted from its JEDEC withdrawal letter the only issued patent — U.S.
Patent No. 5,513,327 (hereinafter, “the * 327 patent”) — that Rambus then possessed containing
claims arguably broad enough to cover technological features used in JEDEC' s far more
conventional “wide-bus’ SDRAM architecture. These limited disclosures, the record shows,
were not sufficient to place JEDEC’ s membership on notice that Rambus possessed patents or

patent applications relevant to JEDEC swork. Indeed, Rambus did more than withhold such



information from JEDEC. When, as occurred on several occasions, JEDEC members confronted

Rambus about the possibility that Rambus might possess intellectual property relevant to

JEDEC’ swork, the evidence shows that Rambus provided misleading responses calculated to

quell any such fears or suspicions. See CCFF 902-09; see also id. 1260-65.

The Anticompetitive Natur e of Rambus s Challenged Conduct (Complaint Y 1-3,

121-24). The record contains ample factual support to demonstrate that Rambus' s challenged

conduct was deceptive, and was undertaken in bad faith with the purpose of excluding

competition. Among other evidence bearing on the exclusionary and anticompetitive nature of

Rambus's challenged conduct, and Rambus’ s underlying intent, the record shows that:

Rambus viewed JEDEC’'s SDRAM standards as a serious competitive threat to
RDRAM, particularly given that many DRAM makers and users alike preferred
SDRAM’s more conventional design and the fact that SDRAM was an open
standard, presumptively free of royalty-bearing patents (see CCFF 754-63, 1677,
1977-1980; see also id. 1683, 1814-37);

Rambus recognized that securing patent rights over SDRAM could provide it
with the ability to impose royalties on, and hence raise the price of, SDRAM
devices, thereby restricting competition from SDRAM and making the RDRAM
technology comparatively more attractive in the marketplace (see CCFF 800-12,
1711-12);

Rambus understood that if JEDEC learned it possessed patents or patent
applications relevant to SDRAM, JEDEC could have worked around Rambus's
patented technologies, thereby preserving the openness of the SDRAM standards
(see CCFF 734-35, 814, 1046);

Rambus also understood that its ability to gain “leverage” over SDRAM, through
the assertion of patent claims, would increase if it waited before disclosing its
patents (see CCFF 1678);

Rambus was advised by itslawyers, early on during its tenure in JEDEC, that
participating in the organization, while at the same time seeking to obtain patent
rights over features of the JEDEC standards — without disclosing to JEDEC that it
was doing so — could result in serious legal repercussions, including injunctions
against the enforcement of Rambus patents on either equitable estoppel or
antitrust grounds (see



. notwithstanding such known legal risks, Rambus continued to participate in
JEDEC, without disclosing relevant patent information, through mid-1996, its
decision to withdraw from JEDEC being heavily influenced by legal advice
concerning the potential to be sued by the FTC for antitrust violations, as
occurred in Dell Computer Corp., a matter that became public for the first timein
December 1995 (see CCFF 422, 851, 1083-86, 1090, 1755);

. Rambus continued to conceal its JEDEC-related patents for several years after
leaving JEDEC, viewing its “ strategic,” JEDEC-related “patent portfolio” asan
“intellectual property card” that it would “play” against DRAM makersif and
when needed to better ensure the success of RDRAM, a scenario that Rambus
envisioned occurring only if its coveted relationship with Intel (which by late
1996 was a strong proponent of RDRAM) were to “blow up” (see CCFF 1676-
1697, 1870-75, 1921, 3000);

. in gearing up for the potentia of enforcing its JEDEC-related patents, Rambus
launched a massive, company-wide document destruction campaign, which —it
has been determined, for purposes of thislitigation —was instituted “in part, for
the purpose of getting rid of documents that might be harmful” in future
anticipated patent infringement suits® (see CCFF 1718-58);

. Rambus s relationship with Intel in fact did blow up, in October 1999, when Intel
informed Rambus that “[i]ndustry acceptance of RDRAM was poor at best” and
that Intel had “no choice” but to reassess its relationship with Rambus’ (CCFF
1916-17; seealso id. 1913-15, 1918-19);

. in the same month, October 1999, Rambus's Board of Directors met to discuss
“target selection” —i.e., which companies to sue first on JEDEC-related patents —
and Rambus proceeded to commence enforcement efforts against Hitachi (CCFF
1920);

. Rambus's policy, in terms of licensing its DDR SDRAM-related patents, is that
the royalties should be set at levels higher than the RDRAM royalties, with the
stated objective of preventing “a competitive device” (CCFF 1712; see also id.
1977-80); and

. Rambus' s publicly stated licensing policy, both with respect to SODRAM and
DDR SDRAM, isthat companies that choose to litigate will pay more, whereas
companies that litigate and lose may not be licensed at all (see CCFF 1983, 1986,
1990-94, 2037, 2980-82).

® Order Granting Complaint Counsel’s Motion for Collateral Estoppel at 5 (Feb. 26, 2003).

7 CX2541.

10



All of these facts and others support the conclusion that Rambus's challenged conduct was
exclusionary in nature and was undertaken for anticompetitive purposes.

Alternativesto the “ Rambus’ Technologies (Complaint 9 62, 65, 69). The record of

this case contains substantial evidence concerning various DRAM features, technologies, and
designs that are capable of performing the same functions that are performed by the “Rambus”
technologies, asincorporated into SDRAM and DDR SDRAM, including evidence relating both
to the technical feasibility and commercial viability of such aternatives. See CCFF 507, 528-
531, 539, 568-76, 601-13, 615-17, 625-28, 631, 638, 642, 644, 2100-07, 2130-14. Such
evidence shows that JEDEC, had it known of Rambus's patented technologies at the time that
the SDRAM and DDR SDRAM standards were being devel oped, could have selected from an
array of viable options.

JEDEC’s L ikely Response to Rambus Patent Disclosuresin a“ But-For” World

(Complaint 11 22, 24, 62, 65, 69). The evidentiary record not only revealsthe variety of

technological options that would have been open to JEDEC in a hypothetical (or “but-for”)
world in which Rambus had made proper patent-related disclosures concerning the four
technologiesin issue, but in addition shows that the most likely outcome in such a scenario is
that JEDEC would have pursued alternative SDRAM and DDR SDRAM specifications, which
avoided the Rambus patents and hence preserved the goal of creating open, non-proprietary
standards. See CCFF 3021. It isalso clear from the record that before JEDEC could even
consider the possibility of incorporating Rambus' s patented technology into its standards,
JEDEC’ srules would require that it receive from Rambus advance, written assurances that any
Rambus patents implicated by the standards would be made available for licensing on reasonable
and non-discriminatory (or so-called “RAND”) terms. See CCFF 347-53. However, record

evidence indicates that Rambus very likely would not have been willing to provide such

11



“RAND” assurances, as it would be inconsistent with Rambus' s licensing-based business model
to agreeto such limitations. See CCFF 1091, 2418-32, 3024-25. Even in the event that Rambus,
in the but-for world, would have provided RAND assurances to JEDEC, record evidence
indicates that JEDEC members —in part owing to the availability of alternatives, and in part
owing to Rambus's positioning as a pure intellectual property company, and the promoter of a
competing, proprietary standard (i.e., RDRAM) —would not have been willing to support the use
of Rambus technology in JEDEC’ s standards absent Rambus' s agreement, in advance, to royalty
rates considerably lower than the rates Rambus has charged in the real world. See CCFF 2441-
64, 3029-36. Taken aswhole, the record evidence conclusively shows that proper patent-related
disclosures by Rambus in the but-for world would have resulted in materially different
circumstances. most likely, Rambus' s technologies would not have been used at all in JEDEC's
standards, and if they were used it would have been subject to Rambus' s agreement to materially
different, and considerably more competitive, license terms. See CCFF 347-53, 2433-64, 3021-
36.

Industry Adoption of JEDEC Standards and “ L ock-In" (Complaint 19 89-92).

Compelling record evidence shows that the SDRAM and DDR SDRAM standards ultimately
adopted by JEDEC were in turn widely adopted and incorporated both by producers and users of
DRAMs, aswell as by producers of complementary products (such as microprocessors, chipsets,
motherboards, and graphics cards), and that the same standards have, since the mid-1990's,
clearly been the dominant worldwide standards for commodity DRAM memory devices. See
CCFF 85-87, 234, 577, 2039, 2643-44, 2904. The evidence further shows that the industry’s
broad commitment to the technology path reflected by SDRAM and DDR SDRAM makes it
economically infeasible for the industry to shift to aternative standards, a condition that

economists refer to as “lock-in.”

12



only after the industry became “locked-in” to this technology path that Rambus —in early/mid
2000 — began to reveal the existence of its JEDEC-related patents to the outside world, and
began to demand royalties from all major producers of JEDEC-compliant SDRAMs. See CCFF
1954-58, 1995-96.

Relevant Technology Markets (Complaint 1 110-18). The record evidence, including

economic expert testimony, supports the conclusion (a conclusion apparently not contested by
Rambus) that this case involves atotal of five relevant technology markets — four of which

correspond to the four “Rambus’ technologies and all commercially viable aternatives to such
technologies, and afifth, “cluster” market aggregating these four markets into one. See CCFF

2763-87, 2885-86. Each of these five relevant markets, the record shows, is worldwide in

13



this monopoly power, not through competition on the merits or through any inherent advantage
in its patented technology, but rather through the very pattern of deceptive, exclusionary conduct
challenged by this lawsuit. See CCFF 2986-3044.

Anticompetitive Effects of Rambus's Conduct (Complaint 9 119-20). Rambus not

only has acquired monopoly power through its exclusionary conduct, but in addition, the record
shows, Rambus has exercised this monopoly power in a manner that has harmed — or threatens to
harm — competition and consumers both within and also extending beyond the relevant
technology markets. The evidence shows that, among other actual and threatened
anticompetitive effects, Rambus's conduct has imposed substantial costs on DRAM makers,
including but not limited to the costs of the anticompetitive and discriminatory royalties that
Rambus has charged in connection with use of the four “Rambus’ technologiesin SDRAM and
DDR SDRAM devices and the costs of litigation. See CCFF 3050-60. Rambus's conduct also
threatens, absent appropriate relief, to:

. lead to increases in the price of SDRAM and DDR SDRAM devices (see CCFF
3050-51);

. disrupt JEDEC’ s ability to develop timely DRAM industry standards, thereby
slowing progress in the development and implementation of DRAM industry
standards (see CCFF 3052-54);

. impose additional costs of DRAM makers, who may be forced to expend limited
design resources in developing and implementing alternative standards that avoid
Rambus patents (see CCFF 3058); and

. discourage industry participation not only in JEDEC, but also other “open”
standards organizations, while at the same time discouraging reliance upon
standards devel oped by such organizations, thereby causing substantial injury to
the wide range of markets that traditionally have benefitted from the same types
of collaborative standard setting processes that have been integral to the
development of the DRAM marketplace (see CCFF 3053-54).

14



Remedy (Notice of Contemplated Relief 11 1-6).

The record compels imposition of the proposed remedy. In order to restore market
conditions as closely as possible to those that would have prevailed in the absence of Rambus's
conduct, to prevent future harm to the markets at issue and related markets, and to prevent harm
to the standard setting process, Rambus should be prohibited from enforcing certain of its patents
relating to JEDEC-compliant SDRAM and DDR SDRAM. This proposed order goes no further
than reasonably necessary to correct the harm. It permits Rambus to enforce any of its patents
against any products other than products that comply with or interface with the JEDEC SDRAM
standards. It also permits Rambusto enforce all of its patents with a priority date after it
withdrew from JEDEC against any and all products, including those that comply with or
interface with the JEDEC SDRAM standards. Such an order is amply justified by the record

evidence and falls well within the Commission’s broad remedial power.

. ELEMENTSAND BURDENS OF PROOF APPLICABLE TO THE
COMMISSION'SCOMPLAINT

Before turning to a discussion of the evidence bearing on liability and relief issues, this
section summarizes the elements and burdens of proof applicable to each of the Commission’s
claims against Rambus.

A. Essential Elements of Proof

It iswell settled that Section 5 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a)(1), which prohibits
“unfair methods of competition,” extends to “ practices that violate the Sherman Act and the
other antitrust laws,” aswell asto “practices that the Commission determines are against public
policy for other reasons.” FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists, 476 U.S. 447, 454 (1986). In

this case, the Commission has asserted three separate counts of liability, two of which are based

15



on causes of action established by Section 2 of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. § 2. Count | of the
Commission’s Complaint sets forth a Sherman Act-based claim of monopolization. Count |1
sets forth a Sherman Act-based claim of attempted monopolization. And finally, Count 111 sets

forth a claim of unfair methods of competition, which arises purely under Section 5 of the FTC

16



2. Attempted Monopolization (Count I1)

The separate offense of attempted monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman Act
requires proof of three elements. (1) exclusionary or anticompetitive conduct; (2) a specific
intent to monopolize; and (3) a dangerous probability of achieving monopoly power. Spectrum
Soorts, Inc. v. McQuillan, 506 U.S. 447, 456 (1993). The conduct element of an attempted
monopolization claim is no different than that of a monopolization claim. See ABA SECTION OF
ANTITRUST LAW, ANTITRUST LAW DEVELOPMENTS at 299-300 (5" ed. 2002). The differencesin
the two types of Section 2 claims relate to the elements of intent and market or monopoly power.

The specific intent element requires showing “a ' specific intent’ to accomplish the
forbidden objectives.” Aspen Skiing, 472 U.S. at 602. It may be proved by direct evidence of
intent, such as statements of the defendant or its agents or “inferred from the defendant’s
anticompetitive practices.” M&M Medical Supplies & Service, Inc. v. Pleasant Valley Hosp.,
Inc., 981 F.2d 160, 166 (4th Cir.) (en banc), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 972 (1993); Volvo N. Am. v.
Men'’s Intern. Pro. Tennis Coun., 857 F.2d 55, 74 (2d Cir. 1988) (“Proof . . . anticompetitive or
exclusionary conduct, may be used to infer the second element, specific intent to
monopolize. .. .").

Actua monopoly power is not required to establish liability for attempted
monopolization. The lesser required showing of a* dangerous probability of monopolization”
can be demonstrated by “proof of the same character, but not the same quantum” as would be
required to demonstrate monopolization — that is, proof that the challenged conduct could, in
light of relevant market conditions, easily lead to the acquisition of a monopoly, even though
that may not (or not yet) have occurred. McGahee v. Northern Propane Gas Co., 858 F.2d 1487,

1505 (11" Cir. 1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S.1084 (1989).

17



3. Unfair Methods of Competition (Count 111)

Section 5 of the FTC Act authorizes the Federa Trade Commission to define and
proscribe “unfair methods of competition.” 15 U.S.C. 8§ 45(a)(1). Accordingly, the Commission
may proscribe “ conduct which, athough not a violation of the letter of the antitrust laws, is close
to aviolation or is contrary to their spirit.” E.l. Du Pont de Nemours & Co. v. FTC, 729 F.2d
128, 136-37 (2d Cir. 1984); see also FTC v. Sperry & Hutchinson Co., 405 U.S. 233, 239 (1972);
Grand Union Co. v. FTC, 300 F.2d 92, 98-99 (2d Cir. 1962). This statute empowers the
Commission with broad authority to “declare trade practices unfair.” FTC v. Brown Shoe Co.,
384 U.S. 316, 321 (1966). Specifically, “ Congressintentionally left development of the term
‘unfair’ to the Commission rather than attempting to define ‘the many and variable unfair
practices which prevail in commerce.”” Atlantic Refining Co. v. FTC, 381 U.S. 357, 367 (1965)
(citing S. Rep. No. 592, 63d Cong., 2d Sess., 13 (1914)). Indeed, the Commission has acted on
this authority to attack “collusive, predatory, restrictive [and] deceitful conduct that substantially
lessens competition,” Du Pont, 729 F.2d at 137, and “activities that violate the spirit of certain
Sherman and Clayton Act sections that were clearly intended to promote competition and deter
anticompetitive acts.” Inthe Matter of General Motors Corp., 103 F.T.C. 641, 701 (1984).

Of particular relevance here, the Commission has determined that exclusionary conduct
that results in anticompetitive effects, even if it fails to satisfy all the elements of a Section 2
offense, violates Section 5 of the FTC Act. See In the Matter of Ethyl Corp., 101 F.T.C. 425,
597 (1983) (noting that “single-actor conduct which is unfair competitive behavior but which
falls short of an attempt to monopolize under Section 2 of the Sherman Act” violates Section 5),
vacated sub nom. E.I. Du Pont de Nemours & Co. v. FTC, 729 F.2d 128, 136-37 (2d Cir. 1984).

The Commission’ s third claim against Rambus (Count I11) alleges that Rambus has

engaged in exclusionary, unfair methods of competition, which have resulted in material adverse
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effects on competition. Thisclaim differs from the monopolization claim (Count 1) principally
in that there is no need to demonstrate actual monopoly power — proof of market power and
material adverse effects on competition will suffice. The unfair methods of competition claim
differs from the attempted monopolization claim (Count I1) in two respects: (1) it requires proof

of actual (as opposed to probable) adverse effects on competition, albeit not necessarily rising to

¢ A requirement that the Commission show anticompetitive effects fully satisfies the limitations
various courts have placed on the FTC’ s authority to proscribe unfair methods of competition.
See Du Pont, 729 F.2d at 137. See also Boise Cascade Corp. v. FTC, 637 F.2d 573, 581-82 (9th
Cir. 1980).

19



pattern of anticompetitive acts challenged in this case did more than violate JEDEC'’ s patent
disclosurerules. Asthe Complaint explains, through its challenged conduct, Rambus also
violated, undermined, and subverted other JEDEC rules and policies, including
Q) JEDEC's**basic rule that standardization programs conducted by the
organization ‘shall not be proposed for or indirectly result in ... restricting
competition, giving a competitive advantage to any manufacturer, [or]
excluding competitors from the market’” (Complaint § 19); and
2 avariety of other policies, rules, and procedures through which JEDEC, at
all relevant times, sought “to avoid, where possible, the incorporation of
patented technologies into its published standards, or at a minimum to
ensure that such technologies, if incorporated, will be available to be
licensed on royalty-free or otherwise reasonable and non-discriminatory
terms’ (Complaint  20).

Of course, this case does not turn on the narrow question of whether Rambus's
concealment of relevant patents and applications technically violated JEDEC’ s disclosure rules.
Rambus, with the purpose of excluding competition, has engaged in a pattern of bad-faith,
deceptive, and exclusionary acts. Through such acts, Rambus has caused substantial harm to
several well-defined technology markets and ultimately threatens to cause hundreds of millions,
if not billions, of dollars of harm to downstream consumers —i.e., the businesses and individuals
throughout this country and the world who buy DRAMs and products, such as personal
computers and fax machines, that incorporate modern DRAM devices. Whatever else may be
said of Rambus's challenged conduct, it is clear beyond any reasonable dispute that Rambus's
actions were deceptive and undertaken in bad faith, and through such actions Rambus

consciously subverted, undermined, and violated the integrity of JEDEC’ s policies and

procedures.’

® The majority decision in Rambus Inc. v. Infineon Technologies AG, 318 F.3d 1081 (Fed. Cir.
2003) (petition for certiorari pending), on which Rambus has placed considerable reliance,
seems to reach this very conclusion. Seeid. at 1104 (noting that Rambus “wanted to obtain
[patent] claims covering the SDRAM standard” and that it “tried to do so” while participating as
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amember JEDEC, “an open standards-setting committee”; and further concluding that “[s]uch
actions” not only fail to “put Rambusin the best light,” but indeed “impeach Rambus' s business
ethics’) (emphasis added).

10 See also Allied Tube & Conduit Corp. v. Indian Head, Inc.



antitrust liability where firm allegedly acquired market power by failing to disclose relevant
patents to a standards-setting organization).™

Another element of the legal theory relates to the concept of lock-in. That is, the theory
of liability set forth in the Complaint is predicated in part on the allegation that Rambus' s bad-
faith, deceptive conduct permitted it to acquire monopoly power because by the time Rambus
finally began to reveal, publicly, that it possessed patents covering JEDEC’'s SDRAM standards,
the DRAM industry had become “locked-in” to the existing JEDEC standards and thus was
unable to avoid Rambus' s patents by switching to alternative, non-infringing standards. This
aspect of the theory of liability here —which is rooted in basic economic theory —iswell
accepted. Rambus’'s own economic expert, Professor David Teece, recently wrote a recent
article on standard setting:

The asymmetry between the low ex ante cost of choosing an
aternative proposed standard and the higher ex post cost of

ab c0.134.2 0 Tf[40.0086 Tc 030126 T ... [O]eranin the stand an

1 See also Mark R. Patterson, Antitrust Liability for Collective Speech: Medical Society
Practice Sandards, 27 IND. L. REv. 51, 84 (1993) (interpreting Allied Tube as “show([ing] little
tolerance for deception in the standard-setting process’); Mark A. Lemley, Intellectual Property
Rights and Standard- Setting Organizations, 90 Cal. L. Rev. 1889, 1927-35 (2002) (discussing
bases for imposing antitrust liability for abuse of a standard setting process).
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1. The Preponder ance-of-the-Evidence Standard Governs This Case

As Rambus itself has acknowledged,* the preponderance-of-the-evidence standard
typically governsin FTC enforcement actions. See In the Matter of Adventist Health
SystemyWest, 117 F.T.C. 224, 297 (1994) (“ Each element of the case must be established by a
preponderance of the evidence”); In the Matter of Washington Crab Assn., 66 F.T.C. 45, 55
(1964) (violation of Sherman Act, Section 2, and thus F.T.C Act, “by a preponderance of the
reliable, probative and substantial evidence”) (Initial Decision, aff’ d by Commission); FTC v.
Abbott Laboratories, 853 F. Supp. 526, 535 (D.D.C. 1994) (holding that the government must
show “by a preponderance of the evidence that [defendant’ s] action was the result of collusion
with its competitors’). See also Complaint Counsel’s Pretrial Brief at 128-130.

In fact, the preponderance standard typically governs civil actions brought by the
government, regardless of the agency involved, and as the Supreme Court has noted,
“[e]xceptions to this standard are uncommon.” Price Waterhouse v. Hopkins, 490 U.S. 228, 253
(1989). Moreover, the Supreme Court has pointed to civil antitrust suits as an example of atype

of litigation in which “proof by a preponderance of the evidence suffices.”

2 See Trial Brief of Respondent Rambus Inc. at 27.
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3 Y our Honor has acknowledged as much in noting that Complaint Counsel’s proof “need not
reach the level of fraud” to demonstrate that Rambus's conduct was “illegal and intended to
create amonopoly in one or more DRAM markets.” May 13, 2003, Order on Reconsideration of
Complaint Counsel’s Motion to Compel Discovery Relating to Subject Matters for Which
Respondent Asserts Privilege at 11.
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2. ThisIsNot a Walker Process Case Meriting a Clear-and-Convincing
Standard of Proof

There is one context in which courts have held that civil antitrust claims should be
subjected to a heightened, clear-and-convincing standard of proof —namely, where the claimed
misconduct involves alleged misconduct in procuring a patent from the PTO. See Walker
Process Equipment, Inc. v. Food Machinery & Chemical Corp., 382 U.S. 172 (1965). Courts
have required a heightened burden of proof in so-called “Walker Process’ cases due to concerns
linked to: (1) the fact that the alleged misconduct occurred in connection with procuring a patent
from the PTO, and (2) the nature of the remedies sought. 1d. at 180. Of course, thisisnot a
Walker Process case, nor can this case be likened to a Walker Process suit. The policy-related
concerns that have caused courts to demand heightened levels of proof in the Walker Process

Walker Process
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‘technical fraud’ which occur in the absence of a deliberate plan to deceive and mislead the
PTO.” Inthe Matter of VISX, Inc., Dkt. No. 9286, 1999 WL 33577396 (F.T.C.) (emphasis
added). See also Cataphote Corp. v. DeSoto Chemical Coatings, Inc., 450 F.2d 769, 772 (9th

Cir. 1971), cert. denied, 408 U.S. 929 (1972) (“The road to the Patent Officeis so tortuous and

patent litigation is usually so complex, that ‘knowing and willful fraud’ asthetermisusedin
Walker, can mean no less than clear, convincing proof of intentional fraud involving affirmative
dishonesty . .. ."”) (emphasis added).

The heightened burden in the specific context of patent procurement makes sense from a
policy and efficiency perspective, not just because of the complex patent application process, but
also because that process involves its own adjudicatory and review procedures. Establishing
Walker Process claimsin court after-the-fact necessarily requires second-guessing the outcome
of the PTO’sinternal processes, which merits heightened scrutiny. The misconduct at issue here
— Rambus' s anticompetitive scheme to monopolize technology markets by subverting an open
standards process — does not implicate the complex patent procurement process, nor does it
require oversight of the PTO’ s fact-finding and adjudicatory procedures. Accordingly, the
policy rationales for employing special scrutiny in the Walker Process cases have no relevance
here.

b. The Remedy Sought Does Not Merit Applying the
Clear-and-Convincing Evidence Standard

The second reason courts have imposed a heightened standard in Walker Process casesis
because of concern about the harshness of the applicable remedies. treble damages and
invalidation of apatent. The Complaint in this cases does not, and legally cannot, propose

either of these remedies.
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Rather, the proposed remedy here is equivalent to the remedy